Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby gran to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kathryn Standish

Date

Associations between parent-female adolescent sexual and reproductive health communication and first sexual and reproductive healthcare seeking experiences amongst low income women in suburban areas outside of Atlanta, Georgia.

By

Kathryn Standish Master of Public Health

Hubert Department of Global Health

[Chair's signature]

Dr. Roger Rochat Committee Chair

[Member's signature]

Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson Committee Member

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Roger Rochat for his incredible counsel and support during this project. His expertise and excitement for reproductive health is inspiring. I would also like to express my deepest appreciation for Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson for her data, expertise, and invaluable guidance throughout every stage of this thesis. Her tenacity for reproductive justice and her encouraging and insightful feedback have been invaluable. Their support and feedback made this possible, and I am incredibly thankful.

To my mother, Barb, and my grandmother, Frankie, I thank you for both for your love and support throughout this endeavor and every stage in my life. Without you this would not have been possible. Lastly, I'd like to thank my family and friends for their encouragement and company through this process.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1-3
Context and Problem	1
Research Objectives	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	4-24
Unintended Pregnancies	4
Teen Pregnancy and Reproductive Health Outcomes	7
Factors that Influence Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health Outcomes	
Parent-Adolescent Communication	11
Sexual and Reproductive Health, Religion, and Legislation in the South	16
Justification for Research	23
Chapter 3: Project Content	25-30
Methods	25
Contributions	25
Setting and Population	25
Study Procedures	27
Ethical Considerations	28
Data Analysis	29
Results	31
Initiation of SRH Discussions	31-45
Content of SRH Discussions	35
Impact of Sexual and Reproductive Health Discussions on First Care Seeking Experience	38
Care-seeking Implications for Those who Received SRH Discussions	39
Implications of Lack of Sexual and Reproductive Health Discussions	42
Chapter 4: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations	46-54
Discussion	46
Sexual and Reproductive Health Discussions	46
Did not Receive Sexual and Reproductive Health Discussions	48
Recommendations	49
Parents	49
Schools	51
Future Research	51
Limits and Strengths	52
Conclusion	54
Additional Pages	55-60
Literature Referenced	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Context and Problem

Adult and adolescent women's autonomy over their sexual and reproductive health (SRH) care is vital to women and society's overall wellbeing. Unintended teenage pregnancies can have short and long-term adverse health effects, as well as negative social and financial implications for the individual and the community (Nove, Matthews, Neal, & Cambacho, 2014; CDC, 2019a). Teenage mothers who carry to term may be at a higher risk for health complications such as delivery complications and maternal mortality than women aged 20-30 (Nove, Matthews, Neal, & Cambacho, 2014). Teenage mothers are also more likely to experience financial hardship than mothers who deliver at a later age (Wall-Wieler, Roos, &Nickel, 2016; Hoffman & Marynard, 2008, and are less likely to finish high school than teenagers who do not become pregnant (Perper, Peterson, & Manlove, 2010; CDC, 2019a). Limited educational advancement and economic insecurity can have harmful effects on mother and baby (Hoffmann & Maynard, 2008).

Teen pregnancies in the United States remains higher than other developed regions and are largely underreported (Wall-Wieler, Roos, & Nickel, 2016; Potter, Trussell, & Moreau, 2009; Finer & Henshaw, 2006). Female adolescents in Georgia are disproportionately affected. Sexual education and SRH related policies have been affected by the deep rooted religious and cultural norms in The South. Sexual education is mandated to be taught in Georgian schools, however the information provided does not need to be medically accurate, does not need to discuss condom or contraception, can promote religious values, and is not required to be age or culturally appropriate (Guttmacher, 2020). Restrictive SRH policies are rife within the United States and are particularly so in the South. Georgia, for example, is one of six states that legally allows pharmacists and medical professionals to refuse family planning services, such as contraceptives counseling and care, due to personal moral or ethical beliefs (NARAL, 2020). Cultural norms and restrictive policies are reflected in SRH outcomes among female adolescents in Georgia. Adolescents have a higher unintended pregnancy rate and higher STI rates in Georgia compared to the national average (Guttmacher, 2014; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2014).

Use of contraception, access to teen friendly SRH services and counseling can reduce teen pregnancies and influence other adolescent SRH outcomes (UNFPA, 2014). Non-use, as well as misuse of contraception is a large contributor to unintended teenage pregnancies (Bell, Gifford, Rashid, McDuffie, & Knight, 2020; Potter, et al., 2009, Manlove et al, 2004). Female adolescents who utilize no method of birth control in their first year of becoming sexually active are 85% likely to become pregnant compared to 6-9% of adolescents who use birth control (Trussel, 2011). In a 2017 study that explored female adolescent's (15-19 years) contraceptive use found that of the 42.4% of participants that reported being sexually active only 31% had ever used an oral contraceptive in the last 3 months, 12.6% had used another hormonal method, and (Abma & Martinez, 2017). While this is a slight increase from previous years, more is needed to be done to increase contraceptive use among female adolescents in the United States to help decrease unintended pregnancies.

Studies have shown parents play a significant role in reducing adolescent unintended pregnancies (Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2016) and can also hold the greatest influence over a female adolescent's SRH outcomes (Lantos, et al., 2019; Somers& Surman, 2004). Studies have also shown parents are the preferred and trusted source for SRH information amongst adolescents (Albert, 2012). According to The National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy's national survey, parents (41%) hold the greatest influence over a female adolescent's sexual and reproductive health decisions, more than friends (20%) or the media (9%) (Albert, 2012). One study found that nine out of ten teens reported open communication with their parents would help them avoid teen pregnancy (Albert, 2012). Studies have shown parent-teen discussions regarding sexual and reproductive health are positively associated with sexual and reproductive health service use, however more research is needed to examine the content of the discussions and its association with SRH service use (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012) (Lantos et al., 2019).

Objectives and Aims

This study aims to assess the impact of parent-female adolescent (parent-adolescent) SRH discussions on female adolescent's first sexual and reproductive healthcare seeking experience amongst low income women in suburban areas outside of Atlanta, Georgia. The specific aims of this study are:

- To examine the circumstances which facilitate the initiation of parent-adolescent SRH discussions.
- 2) To explore the content of parent-adolescent SRH discussions.
- 3) To assess the association between the content of parent-female adolescent sexual and reproductive health discussions and female adolescent's first sexual and reproductive healthcare seeking experience amongst low income women in suburban areas outside of Atlanta, Georgia.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Unintended Pregnancies

Adult and adolescent women's autonomy over their sexual and reproductive health care is imperative for her and society's overall wellbeing (Yazdkhasti, Pourreza, Pirak, and Abdi, 2015). Although unintended pregnancies can fall under a spectrum of intention, clarification between unintended pregnancies and mistimed pregnancies is typically assessed by women's responses to survey questionnaires. For example, in a 1998 Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS) survey, women were asked "Thinking back to just before you got pregnant, how did you feel about becoming pregnant?" If the participant responded wanted at a later time, the pregnancy was classified as mistimed, if the participant responded she did not want to become pregnant currently, or in the future, it was labeled as unwanted (D'Angelo, Gilbert, Rochat, Santelli, & Herold, 2004). D'Angelo et al., (2004) clarified the way in which a survey assesses pregnancy intendedness can influence responses from participants. PRAMS used a single question in a mail-in survey (as well as a follow-up phone call) to ascertain pregnancy intendedness, whereas the National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG) used a series of questions during face to face interviews (D'Angelo, et al., 2004). Pregnancy intention measurements can vary extensively depending on the study's setting and population (Gipson, Koeing, & Hindin, 2008). For example, retrospective cross-sectional studies rely on mothers' memory recall regarding their feelings at the time of their pregnancy (Gipson, et al., 2008). This can pose a problem, as women may have changed their opinions or attitudes associated with their pregnancy at the time (Gipson, et al., 2008; D'Angelo, et al., 2004). However, retrospective designs are typically the study of choice, as prospective studies pose their own issues, especially as studies attempt to capture a woman's intention in the future, which may likely change (Gipson, et al.,

2008). For the purposes of this paper, unintended pregnancies will be defined as unwanted (not wanted at any time) or mistimed pregnancies (wanted at a later time) (Gipson, et al., 2008).

Unintended pregnancy health implications

Unintended pregnancies can have negative life consequences such as adverse mental and physical health effects, financial strain, and constricted life choices (Yazdkhasti, et al. 2015; Herd, 2016; Finer, Lindberg, & Desai, 2018). Unintended pregnancies can lead to an increased risk of depression, anxiety, and decline of psychosocial conditions (Abajobir, Maravilla, Alati, & Najman, 2016). Compared to women with intended pregnancies, women who carry unintended pregnancies to term are more likely to experience depression during pregnancy, post-partum, and the first 7 years after birth (Herd, 2016; Abajobir, etl al. 2016). Studies conducted in the United States found a significant association between pregnancy intentions and timing of antenatal care. Women who deliver an unintended pregnancy to term are more likely to delay prenatal and antenatal care, which can delay diagnosis of health complications for both mother and fetus and increase the risk of adverse health effects (Gipson, et al., 2008). Studies have reported associations between unintended pregnancies and physical neonatal or maternal health outcomes. Retrospective and prospective s tudies found unwanted pregnancies in the United States have an increased risk of premature delivery, low birth weight, congenital anomalies, and spontaneous abortion (Orr, Miller, James, & Babones, 2000; Sable and Wilkinson 2000).

Additionally, induced abortion to terminate unintended pregnancies is not an option available to all women in the United States due to age, state, or financial restrictions (Guttmacher Institute, 2020; Yazdkhasti, et al. 2015). Women who are forced to seek alternative abortion practices outside of a clinical setting are at greater risk of short term and longer-term morbidity, and death (Gipson, Koeing, & Hindin, 2008; Yazdkhasti, et al., 2015). Even when women have access to safe abortion practices and facilities, women may wish to avoid a medical event and possible health complications not of their choosing (Gipson, et al., 2008; Yazdkhasti, et al., 2015).

Unintended pregnancy costs

Assessments from 2010 estimate that the US government spends roughly \$21billion on unintended pregnancies, abortions, and miscarriages from unintended pregnancies in the US (CDC, 2015). In addition to direct cost, indirect cost can bear an even greater toll on society. Population health is affected by its age structure, population growth, unemployment, and health characteristics of its population. Just over half (50.8%) of the US population is female, and roughly one quarter (24%) are of childbearing age (Monte & Ellis, 2014). Unintended pregnancies can lead to higher levels of school dropout rates, lower levels of education, lower levels of income, and decreased professional advancement (Yazdkhasti, et al., 2015; Monea & Thomas, 2011). Lower levels of educational attainment and reduced career opportunities decrease a woman and her family's financial stability (Yazdkhasti, et al., 2015), and also deprives the US economy of contributions from a significant portion of its population.

Unintended pregnancy trends

Unintended pregnancies in the US rose from 48% to 51% between 2001 and 2008 but began to decline in 2011. The most recent estimate from 2011 indicates that roughly 45% of all pregnancies in the United States are unintended (Finer & Zolna 2016). Although rates of unintended pregnancy have declined, the US unintended pregnancy rate remains higher than other developed regions in the same time frame, such as Western and Northern Europe (28% and 27%) (Bearak, et al., 2018). Despite narrowing slightly, disparities amongst different racial and ethnic groups, and income brackets have continued. As of 2011unintended pregnancy rates for women below 200% of the federal poverty level (FDL) were three times higher (six for those below 100% of the FDL) than women above 200% FDL. Rates among Black non-Hispanic and Hispanics remained higher than White-non-Hispanics in the US, even when controlling for income. Correlations between lower education levels and higher unintended pregnancy rates have also continued. While Finer and Zolna did not directly analyze factors that may have contributed to the decline in unintended pregnancy rates in 2011, they did note that more women in all demographic groups reported using highly effective long-acting methods of birth control between 2007 and 2012 which may have had an effect (Finer & Zolna 2016).

Teen Pregnancy and Sexual and Reproductive Health Outcomes

Teen pregnancy remains high in the United States (Wall-Wieler, Roos, & Nickel, 2016). Teen pregnancies in adolescents are largely reported as unintended pregnancies (Potter, Trussell, & Moreau, 2009; Finer & Henshaw, 2006). Negative health consequences exist for both mother and baby. Infants born to adolescent mothers are more likely to be born premature, have lower birth rates, and higher chances of neonatal mortality (Chen, Wen, Felming, Demissie, Rhoads, & Walker, 2007; Wall-Wieler, et al, 2016; Satin, Leveno, Sherman, Reedy, Lowe, & MicIntire, 1994). Teenage mothers who carry to term may be at greater risk of maternal mortality and delivery complications compared to women who deliver between the ages of 20-30 (Nove, Matthews, Neal, & Cambacho, 2014). Teen pregnancy can also have detrimental financial and social impact on the mother and child (Nove, et al., 2014; CDC, 2019a). Teen mothers are less likely to finish high school and more likely to experience economic hardship (Wall-Wieler, Roos, &Nickel, 2016; Hoffman & Marynard, 2008) compared to women who deliver at a later

age. Teenage girls who do not experience a pregnancy or birth are 90% likely to receive a high school diploma by age 22, compared to just under 50% of teen mothers (Perper, Peterson, & Manlove, 2010; CDC, 2019a). Lower education and economic insecurity can have lasting impacts on the adolescent and child (Hoffman & Maynard, 2008). Economic insecurity can cause a great disturbance to the future of both the individual and society and is an area of concern as the US teen birth rates remain high. The 2018 US teen (15-19 years old) birthrate was the lowest on record at 17.4 births per 1,000 (CDCb, 2019), but remains higher than the UK, Western Europe, Canada, and other developed nations (Kawakita, et al., 2017). Reducing teen pregnancy is a major US priority (Kost & Henneshaw, 2012) and continues to be an area in need of response.

Factors that influence adolescent SRH outcomes

Contraception

Contraceptive use, access to SRH care, sensitive counseling, and sexual education influence adolescent SRH knowledge and outcomes (UNFPA, 2014). Non-use and misuse of contraception is a major contributing factor to teen pregnancy (Bell, Gifford, Rashid, McDuffie, & Knight, 2020; Potter, et al., 2009, Manlove et al, 2004). Within their first year of use, 85% of sexually active females of reproductive age who use no method of birth control are likely to experience an unintended pregnancy, compared to 6-9% of those using a form of birth control (pill, patch, shot, or NuvaRing), 0.2-0.8% using an intrauterine contraceptive (IUD), or 0.05% using an implant (Trussell, 2011). In 2017, under half of sexually active female adolescents used oral contraception, and even fewer used a shot, patch, IUD, or implant. A 2017 study examined adolescent (aged 15-19 yeas) sexual activity and pregnancy prevention methods using national survey data from 2011-2015. Of the female respondents, 42.4% having had sexual intercourse (Abma & Martinez, 2017). Female adolescents who had sexual intercourse were asked about the types of pregnancy prevention methods they had ever used. In the 2011-2015 time-period, 97% of female adolescents had used condoms, 56% had used an oral contraceptive, 5.8% had used long acting contraceptives (LARC) (Abma & Martinez, 2017). While contraception has slightly increased in more recent years (2011-2015) (Abma & Martinez, 2017), improvements in contraception use and availability are needed.

Access to and use of SRH services for adolescents

Lack of access to contraceptive care and SRH services can cause disruption or nonutilization of care and can thus negatively impact SRH outcomes among adolescents (Hock-Long, Herceg-Baron, Cassidy, & Whittaker, 2003). US adolescents are more likely than other industrialized regions such as western Europe, Canada, and the United Kingdom to experience barriers to SRH services (Hock-Long, et al., 2003).

Financial issues exist such as health insurance coverage and ability to pay (adolescent's or family's) for services and prescriptions. Structural issues, such as level of confidentiality adolescents have with their providers (Fuentes, Ingerick, Jones, & Lindbergh, 2018) and youth friendly access and awareness of SRH services (Fuentes, et al., 2018; Hock-Long, et al., 2003) remain barriers to adolescents in the US as well. A 2018 study, which examined U.S. adolescents' SRH confidentiality concerns using national survey data from 2013-2015, found 18.9% of female adolescent (15-17 years) respondents would forgo SRH services for fear of a parent finding out. Concerns were more common for younger adolescents of both sexes (Fuentes, et al., 2018). However, Fuentes, et al. found that female adolescents who had discussed more

SRH topics with their parents were "more likely to have had time alone with their health carecare provider at their last visit" (2018).

Sex education

Sexual education classes in classrooms and community centers have been shown to improve adolescents' receipt of sexual health information (Lindberg, Ku, & Sonenstein, 2000); however differences in content and delivery methods leads to varied results (Hall, Sales, Komro, Santelli, 2016). Comprehensive sexual education is effective at increasing adolescent's receipt of sexual information and increasing contraception and condom use (Chin, Sipe, Elder, et al, 2012; Linderbergh & Maddow, 2012) while abstinence only until marriage (AOUM) has been shown to be less effective at reducing sexual activity and risky behaviors (Boonstra, 2008; Hall, et al., 2016; Santelli, Ott, Lyon, Rogers, Summers, & Schleifer, 2006). Despite the lack of evidence of the efficaciousness of AOUM education, deep seated religious and cultural norms affect state and national policies and funding surrounding content and delivery methods of sexual education in schools (Shalet, Satnelli, Russel, et al., 2014; Hall, et al., 2016). Until 2009, federal funding was almost exclusively given to AOUM, despite strong evidence that sexual education emphasizing a rights-based approach that engage adolescents being proven most effective (Strasbuger & Brown, 2014; Shalet, et al., 2014; SEICUS, 2015). While federal funding has changed since 2010, funding for AOUM programs persist and allows for AOUM continuance in schools today (Shalet, et al., 2014). While declines in teen pregnancy occurred in the 2006-2013 time period and contraception use increased during the 2007-2014 time period, sexual education programs declined, suggesting adolescents receive SRH and contraception information elsewhere, including peers and family (Santelli, Lindberg, Finer, & Singh, 2007).

Parent-adolescent communication

The adolescent period (10 to 19 years of age) is a crucial developmental time for an individual, especially when learning to form romantic relationships and establishing sexual identities and behaviors (Widman, Choukas-Bradley, Noar, Nesi, & Garrett, 2016). In developmental and health behavior theory, it is widely acknowledged that both parents play an influential role in child and adolescent development and can impact adolescent behavior. (Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2017). According to The National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy's national survey, parents (41%) hold the greatest influence over a female adolescent's sexual and reproductive health decisions, more than friends (20%) or the media (9%) (Albert, 2012). Furthermore, studies show that parent-adolescent relationships play a significant role in unintended pregnancy outcomes, particularly among adolescent and young adult unintended pregnancies (Albert, 2012; Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2016).

Notably, teens prefer parents for sexual education (Somers & Surmann, 2004) and teens themselves believe in the importance of parent-adolescent communication surrounding sexual and reproductive health. One study found that nine out of ten teens reported that open communication with their parents would help them avoid teen pregnancy (Albert, 2012). Parentadolescent discussions regarding sexual and reproductive health (which will be defined for this paper as discussions between an adolescent and their guardian related to contraception, sexual behavior, and STI and pregnancy prevention) have been shown to reduce teen's risky sexual behavior and engage in healthy sex practices that prevent STI and pregnancy (Lantos, et al., 2019; Widman, et al., 2016). Furthermore, teens who have described having a high level of communication with their parents also report protective behaviors such as condom use at first and most recent sexual intercourse encounters, and discussing STI prevention with their sexual partners (Lantos, et al., 2019; Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2017). Female adolescents, in particular, who discuss sex with their parents, are more likely to use condoms when engaging in sexual activity, and to also delay their sexual debut (Lantos, et al., 2019).

A mixed methods study conducted by Bell, Gifford, Rashid, McDuffie, and Knight (2020) explored mother-daughter SRH contraceptive discussions and adolescent contraceptive service use. They found young woman's contraceptive beliefs and practices were influenced by SRH discussions and interactions with their mothers. For example, they found mothers played a large role in their daughter's access to contraception, including picking up their daughters' oral contraceptives from the pharmacy, reminding their daughters to pick up their prescriptions, or to schedule a contraceptive service visit (Bell, et al., 2020). Bell, et al. (2020) found that young women were more likely to have used a contraception method (pill, injectable, or LARC) if older women in their household had also used the same method. This indicated that mothers play an influential role in not only the initiation of contraceptive SRH services, but also in the type of contraception their daughters use. Additionally, of the mother/daughters who both used oral contraception, 33% shared the same prescribing physician (Bell, et al., 2020), signifying daughters may also be more likely to utilize their mother's physicians. Analysis also found that of young woman participants who used oral contraception, those aged 15-17 years old were significantly more likely to share the same contraceptive form as the older women in their household than those over the age of 18 (Bell, et al., 2020).

Although parent-adolescent discussions regarding SRH have also been shown to reduce negative sexual health outcomes, disparities in the frequency and content of SRH discussions among racial/ethnic groups and gender exist (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012a; Meneses, OrrellValente, Guendelman, Oman, & Irwin, 2006). Meneses et al. suggest disparities in parentadolescent SRH discussions among racial/ethnic groups may contribute to the disparities in sexual health outcomes amongst different adolescent racial/ethnic groups in the US (Meneses, Orrell-Valente, Guendelman, Oman, & Irwin, 2006). Overall, white teens have reported having more SRH conversations with their parents than black and Hispanic teens (Meneses, Orrell-Valente, Guendelman, Oman, & Irwin, 2006). Mothers who identified as Hispanic reported fewer SRH discussions with their teen children as compared to white and black mothers. Hispanic mothers from the same study, however, more accurately reported if their teenagers were sexually active. Meneses et al. theorized that Hispanic mothers may have been communicating in indirect ways with their teens about sexual behavior. Differences among parent-adolescent SRH discussions also vary by gender. Female adolescents are more likely to receive information regarding the negative consequences of sexual activity, while male adolescents are more likely to receive information regarding pregnancy and STI prevention (Lantos, et al., 2019; Widman, et al. 2016). Mothers tend to be the primary SRH communicator with their teen (Lantos, et al., 2019), and female adolescents' SRH discussions with mothers were shown to have a larger protective impact on sexual behavior than SRH discussions with fathers (Widman, et al., 2016).

Adolescent SRH service use and health implications

In 2002 to 2006, unintended pregnancy (Finer & Zolna, 2016), teen pregnancy and STI rates increased in the United States (Potter, Trussell, & Moreau, 2009). During this same timeframe, utilization of SRH services decreased among young women (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2011). From2008 to2011, teen pregnancy rates greatly declined (Finer & Zolna, 2016).

Using data from the National Survey for Family Growth, Hall, et al. (2012b) found that all SRH service use increased from 50% in the 2006-2007 survey year to 57% in 2008-2010 among all young women aged 15-24. Among sexually active young women, contraceptive service use increased from 61% in the 2006-2007 survey year to 67% in 2007-2010, general SRH service use increased from 74% in 2006-2007 to 78% in 2007-2010, and STI service use increased from 22% in 2006-2007 to 33% in 2008-2009 (but decreased to 28% in the 2009-2010 time period) (Hall, et al, 2012b). The correlation between increased SRH service use and lower STI and pregnancy rates also exists in previous years. From1995-2002 SRH service use, such as STI and contraception counseling increased, while at the same time, STI and adolescent pregnancy rates decreased (Hall, et al., 2012b; Mosher, Martinez, Chandra, Abma, & Wilson, 2004). In the 2002-2008 time period, however, STI and unintended pregnancy rates rose, while SRH service use declined (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012d).

Early and consistent SRH visits are important in lowering adverse reproductive health outcomes in adolescents and young women, such as sexually transmitted diseases and unintended pregnancies (Ralph & Brindis, 2010). The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) recommends adolescents have their first reproductive health visit between the ages of 13 and 15 years of age (Ralph, 2010). Utilization of SRH services from Hall, Moreau, and Trusell's 2012(b) study, however, differed by participant's sociodemographic background (education level, income, employment, residence, insurance coverage, parent education and income level, two-parent household). Ethnic/racial minorities and socially and economically disadvantaged women had lower contraceptive service use compared to their counterparts (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012b). Hall et al. theorized that the disparities in SRH care among ethnic/racial minorities and economically disadvantaged women "may help to explain the disproportionately negative reproductive health sequelae occurring across demographic and socioeconomic groups throughout these years" (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012b).

Parent influence on adolescent SRH use

There is limited literature exploring parent influence on adolescent SRH use. However Hall, Moreau, Trussell (2012a) conducted a study analyzing data from a national survey that captured the young women's (15-19 years old) SRH service use and the types of SRH discussions between parent and adolescent (Hall, et al., 2012a). The study defined service use as receipt of contraceptive care, such as counseling, evaluation, or provisions, and STI testing and gynecological care. SRH topics were classified as contraception, condom use, STIs, and abstinence or how to say no to sexual intercourse. Their findings reported 43% of participants utilized SRH services within the last year at the time of the 2012 survey. Three-fourths (75%) of participants had had a SRH related discussion with a parent. Participants that discussed approximately all forms of SRH communication topics (contraception, condom use, STIs, and abstinence) with their parents were more likely to receive SRH services. Conversely, parentadolescent abstinence-only SRH communication was associated with lower SRH service use (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012a).

Parent-adolescent communication styles have also been shown to impact the way in which information is absorbed and acted upon by teens. Parents who engage in SRH conversations with perceived openness, share life experiences, and take turns speaking with their adolescent are more likely to have adolescents report a feeling of open communication and understanding (McCallister, et al., 2019; Edwards & Reis, 2014). When parents engage this way, adolescents are more likely to talk to their parents about SRH related topics and respond better to parental guidance (Baumrind, Lerner, Petersen, & Brooks-Gunn, 1991; Kochanska, 1997). Conversely, parents who adopt a more authoritarian communication style have been shown to narrow the channel of open SRH communication with their children (Heller and Johnson, 2010). This emphasizes the importance of messaging, as well as the importance of parent's perceived level of openness and comfort discussing SRH with their adolescents (Fasula & Miller, 2006).

SRH, religion, and legislation in the South

<u>SRH in the South</u>

Southern states (categorized in the figure 1 below) have higher unintended pregnancy, teenage pregnancy (depicted in figure 2 below), and STI rates than other regions in the continental United States. The South also has higher poverty rates and population growth, as well as lower educational attainment than other regions (Djamba, Davidson, & Aga, 2012). The culmination of factors associated with lower SRH service use, such as lower SES and education and higher religiosity, combined with negative sexual and reproductive health outcomes such as high unintended pregnancy, teen pregnancy, and STI rates in this region of the United States makes the South an area in need of further SRH related studies and improvement.



Figure 1: Map of the United States by region in 1995, adapted from the U.S. Bureau of the Census (U.S.

Census Bureau, 1995).



Figure 2: Adolescent (15-19 years old) birth rate per county by quintile in 2016, adapted from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC Reproductive Health: Teen Pregnancy, 2016).

<u>Religiosity and SRH</u>

The "Bible Belt" (depicted in Figure 3) consists primarily of Southeastern states (including Georgia) and reflect states with higher religiosity and conservative values than other parts of the country (Abadi & Gal, 2018). In turn, highly religious states have been shown to have higher rates of teenage pregnancy and more negative sexual and reproductive health outcomes (Strayhorn & Strayhorn, 2009). The South is 76% Christian. Of the 76% Christians, 34% are Evangelical Protestant, 14% are Mainline Protestant, 11% are Historically Black Protestant, and 15% are Catholic (Pew Research Center, 2019). Christianity, and Evangelical Protestants in particular, have historically held conservative viewpoints on sexuality. Abstinence until marriage is still a mainstream message of Christianity, as well as discouraging abortions (Shorto, 2006).

In Southern states, and more specifically those in the "Bible Belt", it can be more difficult to obtain contraception and access SRH services (Castle, 2011). White supremacists, Christian fundamentalist, and Evangelist have frequently mobilized privately held religious beliefs into political campaigns, organized funding, and public policy (Goodwin, 2020; Brostoff, 2019; Castle, 2011). This is particularly true for issues surrounding SRH, as family structure and sexual purity remain a major component of the Religious Right's (in the Conservative Party) political platform (Hedges, 2004) and abortion access inspired by eugenic ideology are a major interest of white supremacists (Brostoff, 2020). White supremacist influence on US policies can be seen in the late 19th century when lobbyist groups, such as the American Medical Association, argued that abortion and contraception would ultimately lead to a "genocide" of the White race (Brostoff, 2019). Their lobbying was ultimately successful in the South and much of the US

(Brostoff, 2019). White conservative Christian influence is reflected in Southern laws surrounding sexual education in public schools and access to SRH services, particularly abortion. Restrictive laws, such as limits to the number of abortions a physician can perform, mandatory (24 hour) delays, "gag" rules are more common in these states (NARAL, 2020; Goodwin, 2020).



Figure 3: "Bible Belt" regional area in the United States, per Business Insider (Abadi & Gal, 2018).

SRH legislation in Georgia

Georgia also has restrictive policies that reflects its conservative landscape. The state of Georgia prohibits public employees of the state from receiving abortion coverage in their state health-insurance plans, prohibits abortion coverage in the state health-insurance exchange, and also prohibits low-income women eligible for state medical assistance from abortion coverage (except in cases of incest, rape, or life-endangerment) (NARAL, 2020). Parent consent for

abortions being performed on a minor is not legally required, however parental notification is, even when the minor is a victim of rape, incest, or child abuse (NARAL, 2020).

Georgia law requires that prescription medication is given equal coverage under health insurance plans. Contraception falls under this coverage, thus is accessible to women in Georgia with health insurance plans that provide outpatient medication coverage issued or renewed after July 1, 1999 (including Medicaid) (NARAL, 2020). Minors are allowed to consent to contraceptive services without their parent's permission (Guttmacher, 2020). Additionally, medical staff and pharmacists are legally allowed to refuse family planning services, such as contraception counseling and care, to any individual under Georgia law (NARAL, 2020).

Another example of religious and conservative value interplay impacting public policy in the South, is the prevalence of Crisis pregnancy centers (CPCs). CPCs, also classified as pregnancy resource centers, are religious affiliated non-profit organizations (NGOs) who aim to persuade pregnant women to carry to term (Swartzendruber, Newton-Levinson, Feuchs, Phillips, Hickey, & Steiner, 2018). They can provide pregnancy tests and counseling, but information is typically presented in a skewed and biased manner intended to persuade women to carry their pregnancy to term (Uffalussy, 2016). A 2018 study conducted by Swartendruber, et al., reviewed information displayed on CPCs websites in Georgia, and found that 53% "included false or misleading statements regarding the need to make a decision about abortion or links between abortion and mental health problems or breast cancer" (Swartzendruber, et al., 2018). This is a major problem as a recent law passed in 2016 provides state funding for CPCs, allowing for further reach of these clinics (Uffalussy, 2016). A main issue of CPCs is they can tout their services as comprehensive and medically accurate, without the culpability of requiring them to be either (Uffalussy, 2016). As Swartzendruber et al. (2018) found, CPCs in Georgia have false

information presented on their websites claiming links between abortion and mental health issues and breast cancer, as well as misinformation regarding condom effectiveness. State funding for services that misrepresent SRH information makes scientifically backed, medically accurate SRH education to women and young girls an even more pertinent issue in Georgia. SRH education in Georgia, however, also fails to fill the desideratum (Yowell, 2019), which may make parent-adolescent discussions even more important to improving adolescent's SRH outcomes.

Sex education policies

Deep rooted religious and cultural norms of The South are reflected in the sexual education and policies in the region. Currently, 39 states in the US require abstinence only information be given in sexual education (Guttmacher, 2020). All 21 Southern states (in addition to the District of Colombia) are required by law to either cover or stress AOUM in sexual education (Guttmacher, 2020). In the state of Georgia, sexual education is mandated, but is not required to be medically accurate, age or culturally appropriate, and is allowed to promote religious values. AOUM in particular is stressed, the importance of sex within the confines of marriage is promoted, and contraception does not need to be covered (Guttmacher, 2020). States that promote AOUM and do not provide information regarding contraception options or services tend to have higher STI and teen birth rates (Yowell, 2019). Adolescents who receive AOUM curricula do not exhibit lower sexually risky behavior, nor do they prolong their sexual debut (Downey, 2015). This is reflected in Georgia's STD rates among female adolescents. In 2018 Georgia ranked 8th in Chlamydia, 13th in Primary and Secondary Syphilis, and 16th in Gonorrhea rates among young women (15-24 years) in the US and territories (CDC, 2018). Additionally, in 2017 Georgia tied

with Nevada and Louisiana as the states with the 16th highest teen pregnancy rates (21.9) in the US (HHS, 2017). Sexual education that lacks relevant SRH information, such as condom use and its protective benefits, family planning location and services, and contraception availability can produce negative SRH consequences among adolescents (Downey, 2015).

Parent-adolescent SRH discussions and religiosity

Abstinence only messaging is highly linked with religiosity (Lantos, et al., 2019) and has been associated with delayed sexual debut, however it is also highly associated with lower contraceptive use when adolescents start to engage in sexual activity (Manlove, Logan, Moore, Ikramullah, & Pathways, 2008). Additionally, higher religious services attendance is associated with lower SRH service use among adolescents, (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012c). In the Southern US, this poses a unique challenge, as conservative religious and political views are more common than in other parts of the continental US (Shorto, 2006).

Several studies conclude that religiosity influences how conversations are formed surrounding SRH messaging to adolescents (Afifi, Joseph, & Aldeis, 2008; Flores & Barroso, 2016). Southern parents are particularly responsive to faith-based SRH discussions, and therefore may express more religious viewpoints in parent-adolescent SRH conversations (Afifi, Joseph, & Aldeis, 2008). Parental religiosity is also linked to parent discomfort speaking about SRH with adolescents, and also may be linked to fewer parent-adolescent SRH discussions and initiated at later times in the adolescent's life (Baier & Wampler, 2008; Flores & Barroso, 2016). Adolescents who receive delayed or abstinence-only SRH discussions from parents are at a higher risk for negative sexual health outcomes (Downey, 2015). Abstinence is highly linked with religiosity (Lantos, et al., 2019) and has been associated with delayed sexual debut, however it is also highly associated with lower contraceptive use when adolescents start to engage in sexual activity (Manlove, Logan, Moore, Ikramullah, & Pathways, 2008). Research such as this has depicted the large role parents play in their children's SRH decision making process (Albert, 2012; Somers & Surmann, 2004; Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2017; Lantos, et al., 2019). Given the need to improve adolescent SRH outcomes in Georgia, and acknowledging the impact of parent-adolescent discussions on adolescent SRH decision making, exploring parent-adolescent discussions and its possible associations on female adolescent's SRH contraception and service use in Georgia could be an important area of study to improve SRH outcomes in this population.

Justification for Research

Female adolescent utilization of SRH service use has been associated with lower unintended pregnancies and negative SRH health outcomes (Ralph & Brindis, 2010). Parent-adolescent communication has been shown to influence adolescent SRH behavior and service use. While studies have explored the connection between parent-female adolescent SRH discussions and SRH service use, further questions remain regarding the content and influence of these SRH discussions. Moreover, most research exploring parent-adolescent SRH discussions and service use are based on quantitative data sources, based primarily on surveys (Hall, Moreau, and Trussell, 2012a). Survey's do not capture the nuances of SRH communication, which can play a key role in understanding parent-adolescent SRH discussions and its effects on adolescent service use (Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012a; Widman, et al, 2019).

Select studies have explored the types of communication styles parents employ when speaking to their children about SRH, however fewer have explored the content of SRH discussions, and little research has been conducted in terms of the association between the content of parental SRH discussions with female adolescent SRH service use (McCallister, Akers, Worlds, & Morrison, 2019; Hall, Moreau, & Trussell, 2012a). The South is an important region to study parent-adolescent SRH discussions and first-time service use given the religious and political relationship the Southern United States has with sex (Shorto, 2006) and its evident impact on parent-adolescent SRH discussions (Widman et al, 2016). Exploring the relationship between parent-adolescent discussions and first-time SRH service use using in-depth interviews can help to illuminate some of the more nuanced communication taking place, give better insight as to the types of messaging being formed around this topic, and the discussions impact on their first SRH service use experience. This study will assess the association between the content of parent-female adolescent SRH discussions and female adolescent's first sexual and reproductive healthcare seeking experience amongst low income women in suburban areas outside of Atlanta, Georgia.

Chapter 3: Project Content

Methods

Contributions:

This study uses secondary data from a larger study "*Exploring Multiple Influence on Equity: A Mixed Methods Study of Low-income Women's Access to Family Planning Services in the South.*" Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson, the study's lead researcher, devised the original study, coordinated participant recruiting, created the interview guide, surveys, and the deductive codes and inductive codes relevant to the original study's research questions. She conducted all interviews, coded all transcripts, and supervised all research assistants that assisted in transcript coding. Dr. Newton-Levinson was heavily involved in the editing and guidance of this research project.

The student assisted in data collection of 1 transcript, contributed to and served as primary coder for 13 codes in analysis of all 25 transcripts of the original study. The student created the research question for this study, developed and refined additional codes relevant to this study's research questions, conducted a review of literature, and is the primary author of this study.

Setting and population

The study was conducted in suburban areas surrounding Atlanta, Georgia mapped out in figure 4 below. Barriers to family planning services are more common for women in areas outside the metro Atlanta area where transportation can be more difficult and public funding for family planning clinics is fewer. Women were selected if they met the following criteria: low-income (below 250% FPL) women of reproductive age (18-34) who were sexually active, were biologically female with no history of sterilization or hysterectomy, did not want to become

pregnant in the upcoming year, and spoke English (indicated in figure 5). The study population included women who sought care from a variety of healthcare settings, women who were non-care seeking, and an effort was made to recruit women who identified as Hispanic, Black, and White.



Figure 4: Recruitment counties (Newton-Levinson, 2019).

Demographic/	Eligible	Not Eligible
Question		
Age	• Age 18-34	Under 18
		Over 34
Sex	Biologically female	• Sex: Male or Intersex + currently
	 Any gender identity 	identifies as male or trans woman
Race	Identifies as black or white	Does not identify as black or white
Sexual Activity	 Sexually active (in past 6 months) 	Not sexually active
		Refuse to answer
Pregnancy Status & Intention	 Not currently pregnant or seeking abortion services 	Currently pregnant
	 Do not wish to become pregnant in the next year 	 Trying to get pregnant in next year, wouldn't mind being pregnant in next year
Able to become pregnant	 No history of hysterectomy or sterilization 	 Has had a hysterectomy, oophorectomy, sterilization, etc.
Residence	 Lived in Georgia for at least 1 year 	Does not live in GA
		Has only lived in GA for under a year
Household Income	At or below 250% of FPL	Above 250% of FPL
Service	 Live in OR have sought FP services in one of the 	Does NOT live in counties in study area
seeking area	following counties:	AND has not gotten services in study
	 Douglas, Clayton, Rockdale, Bartow, Cobb, Henry, Gwinnett, Hall, Paulding, Coweta, Cherokee, Forsyth 	counties in past 3 years

Figure 5: Eligibility criteria (Newton-Levinson, 2019).

Study procedures

Data collection

Recruitment of women and data collection took place between January 2019 to February 2020. Women were recruited at healthcare settings, community settings, as through social media advertisement. Screening surveys were administered to determine if women met the study's eligibility criteria by the study team. Interviews were 60-90 minutes and took place in a private room in a public setting such as a public library or coffee shop. All interviews took place in

person and conducted by the study's lead researcher, Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson, who has extensive qualitative interviewing experience. Interviews consisted a life history interview (LHI) and a survey. 25 women completed the study

Instruments

LHIs are semi-structured, individual interviews that allow for participants to drive the direction of the interview by following their life stories and allowing for topics to be discussed that are most relevant or important to them (Goldman et al., 2003). Participants were also asked to draw timelines to demonstrate their SRH history and to foster memory recall to more fully answer questions during their interviews (Kolar et al., 2015). Interviews were then structured around the participant's timeline, and the study's lead researcher probed participants' SRH experiences. This study focused on the participants descriptions of their SRH discussions with their parents and their first SRH care seeking experience specifically. Participants were directly asked about their first care seeking experience and where they first learned about birth control, but volunteered information regarding their SRH discussions with their parents.

Ethical considerations

Prior to recruitment and data collection, this study received exception from Emory University's Institutional Review Board (IRB #00106658). Participants gave consent before being administered the survey and in-depth interview. Women informed of what the study would entail, such as the study's research aim, any discomfort that may arise from the interview, and confidentiality information. Each participant received a \$40 gift card as compensations for their time.

Data analysis

An audio recorder was used to record the interviews. Each LHI was then transcribed. Research assistants also took notes during each LHI for clarification. MAXQDA 2020 was used for qualitative analysis of the transcribed interviews. MAXQDA is a qualitative and mixed methods software program (MAXQDA, 2020) that allows you to code parts of interviews that are coordinated with specific codes or themes of a study. The study's lead investigator and a team of research assistants coded all 25 interviews for the larger study. All transcripts were deidentified. All study participants were given the option to choose a pseudonym. Participants that did not have a name preference were later assigned one.

Thematic analysis was used to analyze this study. First, deductive themes were coded. Deductive themes were assigned by the study's lead researcher (ANL) and came from the interview guide and a framework by Levesque et al that explores the dimensions of patientcentered access to care, such as approachability, acceptability, availability/accommodation, affordability, appropriateness as well as the individual's capability to interact with those domains through their ability to perceive, seek, reach, pay, and to engage with care (2013). Inductive codes were parsed out from the larger deductive codes of "Family" and "Care Seeking Process". For example, inductive themes related to parent-adolescent SRH discussions, such as "Initiation" and "Content", were created under the deductive code "Family". Sub-codes were created for closer examination. "Protection", "Contraception", and "Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare Services" for example were created to more closely analyze the "Content" of SRH discussions. These themes were central to assessing the association between the content of parent-female adolescent sexual and reproductive health discussions and female adolescents' first SRH care seeking experience. Codes were re-defined and refined as needed.

Themes were mapped out and reconfigured to answer the central research question. In the results, themes were organized in relation to the process of parent-adolescent SRH discussions and its impact on their first care seeking experience. The first phase explored themes related to the initiation of SRH discussions to assess which emerged as a driver of parent-adolescent conversations. The second phase explored themes related to the content of the SRH discussions, and the last phase assessed themes related to the impact of the SRH discussions on the participants' first care seeking process.

Results

Overall this study found that parent-adolescent SRH discussion influenced adolescents' first care seeking experience. Results are organized into three sections: 1) initiation of SRH discussions; 2) content of discussions; and 3) influence of discussions on participant's care seeking experience. Most initiation of SRH discussions were prompted by a parent's desire to prevent their child from experiencing negative SRH outcomes, the participant moving away from home, or when the participant may become sexually active. The content of these discussions were usually centered around contraception, SRH services, and protection of the adolescent's physical health and future. Discussions influenced SRH care, and often impacted which providers participants sought out, the type of contraceptive method they received, and in some cases when they started use. Participants were also more likely to let their parents know when they were ready for SRH services if they had already received conversations regarding SRH care or contraceptive use.

I. Initiation of SRH discussions

30

Initiation of sexual and reproductive health (SRH) discussions between the participants and their parents were described by seventeen women when discussing their SRH knowledge and experience.

Parent vs Adolescent. Eighteen participants discussed having SRH conversations with their parents during their interviews. Four did not discuss having SRH related conversations and three discussed receiving abstinence only messaging. Initiation of SRH discussions were relatively split between adolescents and their parents. Of participants who discussed having sexual and reproductive conversations with their parents, 7 of the conversations were described as initiated by the participants and 11 conversations were described as parent initiated. The majority of the parent-adolescent SRH conversations discussed were between the participants and their mother. Participants who reported having SRH conversations with their father indicated conversations were initiated by the father rather than the participant. In most instances these conversations were instigated by finances, usually regarding financial assistance for SRH medical bills or contraceptive costs, or disapproval of contraceptive services due to the father's discomfort with their daughter's sexual activity and its association with contraception.

Reasons for Initiation

Common themes that prompted SRH discussions between parents and adolescents were prevention, sexual activity, and family events.

Prevention. Seven participants described their parents desire to 'prevent' the participant from experiencing negative SRH outcomes as motivation of some parent-adolescent discussions. Prevention, such as safe sex practices, and STI and pregnancy prevention sparked parent-adolescent discussions described by seven participants who noted having SRH conversations with their parents. Parents predominately instigated these discussions and they were framed

around their desire to protect their daughter's future and physical health. For some participants, family events or traumas, such as a sibling becoming pregnant, sexually active at a young age influenced the initiation of parent led SRH prevention conversations. One participant, Von, 31, Black, described her sister prostituting at a young age and the influence it had on her SRH discussion with her mother:

Von: And my family members, my aunts, and I believe my grandmother, had found her, and she was prostituting... And that was the first conversation that I had ever heard or experienced about sex... But yeah, I was – I was terrified. I – more so for her as well, too. It was a very intense conversation.

Interviewer: Yeah. And did they tell you all about sex, or was it just like a little bit, or –

Von: Um, the main things about diseases... and, um, you know, being taken advantage of.

A few conversations regarding pregnancy prevention specifically were started by the parent's desire to protect their daughter's educational attainment and to avoid financial hardship. Few conversations described were initiated by a parent's desire to protect their adolescent's mental health, however a few participants did describe SRH conversations where a parent discussed sexual partner selection and being taken advantage of.

Independence. A second theme involved conversations that were centered around independence. Participants described life events in which they garnered more independence, such as moving out of their family home or going off to college, as a catalyst for contraception conversations with their parents. These cases were primarily initiated by the parent and propelled by the parent's desire to prepare their daughters with contraception for when they no longer were
under adult supervision and direct guidance. This type of initiation was predominately instigated by the participant's parents.

"I waited until I was going to college, you know, because then my mom can't hover over me, see... what's going on. It was more like I'd rather you just have it, you know how to use it, it's already, you know, you're good into, uh oh, hey, mom, I'm pregnant my first semester of college. So, I'm sure, you know, the timing for her was like all right, you know, you're smart, you're responsible, you know. Just do that." -Laila, 28, Black

Sexual activity. A third theme included conversations regarding the participant's sexual activity and sexual debut. This instigated SRH discussions amongst adolescents and parents, especially as it related to contraception. Both participants and their parents initiated these conversations. Participants that initiated contraception or first-time service use SRH conversations with their parents were prompted to do so when they were ready to become sexually active or were already engaging in sexual activity, as described by Goldie, 25, Black:

"On my 18th birthday I told my mom that I wanted to have sex. And she told me, 'Okay, let's go to--' I know it was Planned Parenthood we went to, but I don't know which. And we went there and got an appointment. I was able to get my... Implanon in my arm, the one that lasts for five years."

Likewise, parent initiated contraceptive SRH conversations aimed to discuss the importance of contraception, but expressly in the hopes that it was before their daughter became sexually active. Contraception and sexual activity were closely linked by both participants and parents of participants who described the initiation of these discussions. Those that voiced hesitation initiating contraception-basedSRH discussions with their parents expressed concern that their parents would assume they were having sex (whether they were or were not). In some cases, participants described reluctance to speak to either of their parents if they suspected that one parent would assume that they were sexually active and disapprove. In some cases, this also led participants who wanted contraceptive services to delay services until a later time. For some participants, this led to usage of alternative contraceptive methods such as condoms, spermicide, or the pullout method, as described by Shay, 22, Black:

"I think, around that time – here I said I decided against birth control. Now, this is the thing, because with me being in high school... I didn't have access to my own avenues to health care... So, if I went to the doctor, it was either I went with my parents up until that point, or they knew about it. I didn't have my car at that point... Then, of course, I heard all the horror stories about the implant and different things. So, I just decided that this wasn't it. But I did look into other ways. Then, I guess that's how I found [out] about spermicide."

II. Content of Discussions

Participants also described the types of topics they covered in discussions with their parents. Common content themes among participants who described having SRH discussions with their parents related to positive and negative experiences, SRH service information, contraception, and protection.

Positive and negative experiences. Of participants who discussed having SRH discussions with their parents, most described their interactions as either positive or neutral, such as the neutral conversation described by Kiara, 22, Black:

"She didn't really have any negative opinions about it. She didn't think anything. She was fine with me getting it. And yeah. It was an open conversation. [Laughs]"

Participants were more likely to describe the exchange as positive if information or resources were given. SRH service use and contraceptive conversations were described as the most helpful or positive by participants. Conversely, parent-initiated conversations that focused primarily on abstinence or the participant not becoming pregnant, without providing information, were more likely to be described as a negative exchange, as were discussions participants felt were initiated too late and after they were already sexually active for several years. Women were also more likely to describe a negative exchange if they felt judgment or disapproval from their parents due to the participants sexual activity or SRH care needs. As one woman described a negative experience with her mother:

"I became sexually active at 13. Soon after my parents found out that I wasn't a virgin ... I just have this long rap sheet and this plethora of unhelpful sex talks from my mom. Because like I said, she's very religious. It's always abstinence only. Sex is only for married people. Two people shouldn't even be sleeping in the same bed. She's just very traditional. So, I literally have – mind you, she's an R.N. But I have no information from her." –Shay, 22, Black

Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare Services. Discussions regarding SRH services were described by fifteen participants and included logistical information, preparation, and facilitation. Fourteen participants disclosed receiving "logistical discussions" in their interviews, which included parents describing what services may be offered, the types of providers to utilize, which providers were covered under their family's insurance (or which providers would offer free care if the family did not have insurance). Three participants discussed "preparational discussions" helping participants to prepare for their first SRH service visit typically focused on financial issues, such as potential contraceptive costs or visit fees that may incur. In some cases, participants' mothers prepared them by providing questions they should ask their provider regarding contraception. Laila, 28, Black described how her mother told her to inquire about

generic birth control pills to lower the costs of her contraception if her provider did not initially offer them to her:

"Just having an older sister, ... and parents who were like, no, you go in there and you ask for the generic version...When I went, I think my first time was at 17. I went on birth control, and they didn't offer me the generic version. [They said] 'This is what our clinic offers, and this is all we have' ... then I had to ask, and it was like, oh, okay, well, if that's what you want, then we'll have to write you, like, a prescription ..from a different place."

Lastly, ten participants described how their parents assisted them by facilitating their first SRH service visit. Some of these "facilitation discussions" went beyond conversations and included parents offering financial assistance, scheduling appointments, picking up their daughter's birth control prescriptions, and providing transportation.

Contraception. Thirteen participants described having discussions specifically about contraception with their parents. Most discussions were positive or neutral, however a few negative experiences were described. Some participants described wanting their parent's opinion regarding birth control types or for assistance with procurement. A few women described how their mother's own experiences obtaining birth control shaped their contraception discussions, such as Dilly, 19, Black-Hispanic:

"My mom told me when she first got [birth control], they used to tell her [at] the doctor's office, 'Your da-da is going to cover this and it's going to be this.' But, I didn't find out until I got to the pharmacy."

Of these participants, some described conversations in which their mothers discussed what types of birth control worked for them, and others described what types of contraception were available. Negative experiences were typically due to parent disapproval or a lack of contraceptive information provided by the parent. Some participants described their parent's qualms about birth control. In some cases, it was due to health concerns, such as side effects of contraception or concerns regarding its effect on the participant's body due to their age. In one case a mother's apprehension towards birth control was due to the mother's own negative experience with contraception, as Nina, 26, White, described:

"My mom had – she wasn't – we weren't religious, so she wasn't very anti-sex. She had told me before that she had been open with sex. But she was very against birth control 'cause when she took it back in the 70s – I don't know – she said it made her heart race, which was a thing back then I guess."

Protection. "Protection discussions" involved parents focusing on how women could protect themselves against STIs and pregnancy. Of participants that discussed having protection based SRH discussions, conversations were focused on their physical health, while a few were centered on their mental wellbeing. Jasmin, 24, Black, for example, described how her mother warned her that not everyone deserves sex:

"[...]my mom did sit down and talk to us about it, of course, and just kind of put us on game, I guess you could say, about like, hey, not everybody deserves it (sex). Not everyone deserves it, but that would be your decision to make."

A few protection conversations also centered around how to "say no to sex" and "abstinence only" messaging. Most participants found these protective discussions to be unhelpful, especially if parents discussed pregnancy or STIs without providing information on how to prevent these outcomes, as described by Sadiyah, 33, Black:

"Because a lot of parents don't talk about it. They say, "Don't do it or don't get pregnant." "Well, how do we not get pregnant?"

Three women described discussions that focused solely on abstinence and discussed how abstinence was pushed by their parent to protect the participant from pregnancy or expressed it was "the right thing to do" until marriage. Most of these conversations were religious based or discussed by participants' parents who were described as holding conservative values. These conversations were usually described as unhelpful as Amy, 28, White discussed:

"They don't even go to church, but they have weird super conservative ideas about most things that you don't necessarily know until the topic comes up and then they feel really strongly out of nowhere about it. And it's really confusing when it happens. Why do you care? But yeah, they would be definitely opposed [to sex]... My family always says stuff like when you get pregnant it should be the right way... what is the wrong way?"

III. Impact of parent-adolescent discussions on first time SRH care seeking experience

Whether or not participants received SRH related discussions from their parents, parents influenced their care-seeking in several ways. This section describes the experiences of those that received SRH discussions compared to those that lacked SRH discussions or received discussions focused on abstinence.

<u>Care-seeking implications for those who received SRH discussions.</u>

Reception of sexual and reproductive health services discussions. Largely, participants wanted to feel ready for their first SRH visits and to receive guidance, even if it was an uncomfortable conversation. Some participants alluded to the awkwardness that ensued during some parent-adolescent SRH discussions. However, as one participant described, she was grateful to have received the information from a reliable source, instead of a source which may provide inaccurate information.

"It was a little awkward. I was like, mom, can you just not? Because she was a little abrasive with it, but I do appreciate all the information, because otherwise, I would have learned it from school probably the wrong way [such as] not knowing how to use a condom, getting all the wrong facts about birth control, like they're trying to kill you, don't take it." –Charlie, 25, Black

Impact of sexual and reproductive services discussions. In most cases, participants who received contraception sought care due to sexual activity. In select cases, participants' first care seeking experience was due to menstruation or a hormonal imbalance. Participants who discussed receiving "logistical discussions" with their parents were more likely to describe setting up their first care seeking visit as manageable, and also more likely to have their first visit before age 18. Participants were also more likely to describe having their first visit by 18 if they discussed receiving "facilitation discussions" with their parents as well.

Of the participants who received "logistical discussions", eleven were able to obtain contraception by the age of 18. Conversely only two of the eleven participants who did not receive "logistical discussions" obtained contraception by age 18. Some participants who discussed "logistical discussions" with their parents expressed the conversation helped determine which provider they went to, and in some cases, participants used the same provider or contraceptive methods as their mothers.

Participants felt that "preparation discussions" regarding financial expectations during their first visit allowed them to navigate issues related to affordability of services such as anticipating possible costs and allowing them to ask questions regarding cheaper options. Some participants also felt prepared to ask more contraception questions with their provider. "Facilitation discussions" were largely described as useful by participants who described received them. These discussions include financial assistance, help scheduling their appointment, picking up their birth control prescriptions, and providing transportation. For many women this was a new section of the healthcare system to navigate, and parental assistance allowed them to transition more smoothly. Most participants who discussed receiving help from a parent in setting up their appointments described the appointment process as "easy" or manageable. Some participants also discussed their parents picking up their prescription from the pharmacy. Of those who received this help, most described it as a helpful facilitator.

Impact of contraception-specific discussions. Parental contraceptive discussions and opinions influenced some participants' first care seeking experiences. Participants were more likely to describe "contraception discussions" as helpful if they included information on types of contraception or where to obtain it. Of women who described contraceptive-friendly discussions, most who expressed they were ready for sex or contraception to their mother received help setting up their appointments or guidance on where to obtain services. Women were also more likely to approach their mother when they were ready for contraception if they also described having contraception positive discussions previously?. Speaking to mothers who spoke positively about contraception and who provided avenues to care were also described as a helpful facilitator by some women who had internalized social stigma regarding contraception.

Parent contraception discussions and guidance were seemingly more impactful for participants whose first care seeking experience was at a younger age (before 16). In these cases, their mothers were usually in the room with them at the time of their appointment or were involved with their healthcare discussions with their providers, and were usually for more so for health reasons, such as hormonal imbalances, than pregnancy prevention. Of these participants, some also described how their mother's approval and opinion of contraception influenced whether they started use. *Parent presence.* Parental presence or absence influenced some participants care seeking experiences. Some participants described how parents would physically accompany them to their first visit. Of these participants, a few described feelings of discomfort or embarrassment when their mother was in the exam room during their first visit. Some women described that their mother spoke for them or over them. In one case, a participant described embarrassment when her mother too abrasively stated the participant was sexually active to her provider. Some participants, especially if their first visit was at a younger age (12-18), expressed sex was a sensitive and awkward topic to discuss with their provider. Conversely, those who discussed starting contraception for menstruation needs other than sexual activity, were less likely to describe the experience as uncomfortable.

Although most participants preferred to be alone in the exam room, select participants described comfort that their mom in the waiting area, which as one participant described, allowed her to more forcefully ask for cheaper contraception.

"I go in there, and like I said, they're like, oh, we have this \$75 one, and this is the best brand, whatever brand it was. And I'm like, no, I do remember my mom saying ask for the generic version, and if you don't believe me, she's sitting in the waiting room. So, they're like, oh, well, we'll – and I think she ended up offering me something that was much, much cheaper." – Laila, 28, Black

Implications of lack of SRH discussions.

Six participants stated they either had no SRH discussions with their parents or did not discuss having SRH discussions in their interviews. Two additional participants discussed having abstinence only SRH conversations with their parents which lacked SRH information.

Lack of information and lack of comfort. Of the eight participants who described abstinence only-or no SRH conversations with their parents in their interviews, five expressed a desire to obtain more information. Lack of discussions impacted some participants' SRH care seeking experiences. Lack of discussions were associated with a lack of comfort surrounding contraception and also a lack of confidence seeking contraceptive care. Women who did not describe receiving SRH discussions, or women who described receiving discussions, but described not receiving useable information in their discussions, such as where to obtain services, what kind of services were offered, or how to prevent STI or pregnancy, were more likely to describe weariness starting birth control during their first care seeking experience or cease use shortly after starting it.

"My mom has never told me to use any birth control, she just never did. I talk to my best friend from school. She lives in [Southern City] ... She's been on Depo forever and it works for her, and it works for my sister now. But I just worry about the side effects. Maybe they have done long term studies where they have looked at what happens. But maybe someday in the future if I want a child there would be an unexpected side effect. It's just weird to me to not have a period, even though I don't want one. Its enticing but I don't know." –Shirley, Black, 30

Lack of SRH discussion in some cases led to unplanned pregnancies before evening seeking services, and for three participants the first time they spoke to their parents about SRH was after they had an unplanned pregnancy. Most participants indicated that they wanted to receive contraceptive and SRH care information from their parents, and some women expressed how open communication with parents would be an important facilitator for easier navigation of SRH care.

"Because I just know that when I needed birth control, [family and school] would've been two things to make it easier for me... No family members. I guess it's hard if you don't have ... I *didn't have anyone to tell me about birth control. So not having that guidance you know it makes it harder." – Alexandria, 32, White*

Trauma and shame. Lack of communication also exacerbated feelings of shame in some cases. Some participants discussed a lingering stigma or shame surrounding SRH health care that made them uncomfortable seeking care.

"Information wasn't provided to me in school or by any of my relatives or family members, so I had to go and look for it myself... The things that are harder is just not knowing, so you don't want to look stupid when you go, just having a fear or any stigmas along with it, or any shame" –Carol, 23, Hispanic

Participants who discussed a sense of shame or stigma relating to sex and SRH also discussed their parents' negative attitudes towards sex. In many cases this was attributed to religious reasons. Three participants also discussed how regionally, there is a conservative culture concerning sex in the South. Life experiences, such as personal trauma also impacted their shame regarding SRH. Ruby, 23, White, described her the circumstances surrounding her first care seeking experience:

"I lost my virginity when I was, I think, 13. It's kind of hard to remember. And then because of the unfortunate situation that I was in, I think that that started a lifetime thing of anxiety. So, I told my mother that I had this weird stomach pain going on. And I think, really looking back on it, that it was my anxiety about getting pregnant. Because at the time, everything was secretive, hidden from the family, hidden from the school."

Ruby's trauma and secrecy surrounding this first time in her life needing birth control impacted her relationship with SRH, as she described a negative experience she encountered later in life and the shame she felt at times:

Ruby: So [the negative experience] just [brought] back bad feelings of shame that had hovered around my getting into acquiring birth control. That had been abated for a few years from good experiences. And then just a really negative experience

Interviewer: Can you tell me a little bit about what those feelings of shame were about when you first got into it?

Ruby: I guess not only shame about even just needing this healthcare because – it's a difficult thing to articulate. I think women's health is very stigmatized and often made into a joke. It's something that it's difficult to even just talk openly about because it has to be something that we're secretive about... So, there was that kind of shame, just of needing women's health. And also, just shame about my own body.

Another participant, Daniela, 32, Hispanic, disclosed that the only SRH discussion she had with her mother was when her mother found out she was pregnant at a young age and provided her with an abortion pill that her mother had found online. The participant also discussed how her personal trauma and the impact of her mother's reaction when she found out the participant was "playing house" with a boy in her youth. Her mother hit her and told her it was wrong. The participant then associated sexual contact as a negative interaction and was unable to tell her mother of her sexual abuse later on in life for fear that she would be punished. Daniela disclosed this lingering trauma and lack of SRH discussions at home impacted her relationship with SRH services.

"[...] I guess ... all the decisions that you make sexually are ... based on your traumas and selfesteems. So... when abuse happens, sexually, it distorts everything... [And] when you don't have any type of therapy, I think you make the wrong decisions after another, another, based on your traumas... Because when my mom did that to me, I think that's what really messed me up. Because when the time came that I was being molested... 'cause my mom just hit me and grounded me, but she never came back and told me anything... And then... when I got my period, no one explained to me what it was or what it meant. And I'm glad... that's when [my mom] went to get us, because I started having my period before I turned 10... And if my mom wouldn't [have] come and got us, I don't know what could have happened, 'cause I had already my period. So, if the molestation kept going, I could have gotten pregnant... So, that's the reason why I influence all the decisions that I made and maybe not seeking out like, not wanting to learn more. It wasn't a conversation at home."

Chapter 4: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations

Discussion

The goal of this research thesis was to assess the association between parent-adolescent sexual and reproductive health discussions and adolescents' first care seeking experiences amongst low-income women in Georgia. Research has shown parent-adolescent communication can influence adolescent SRH behavior and decision making. While select studies have explored the association between parent-adolescent communication and SRH service use, most were limited to quantitative data which narrowed the scope of the study. This study found that parent-adolescent SRH discussions often impacted which providers participants sought out, the type of contraceptive method they received, and in some cases when they started use.

SRH Discussions

Previous studies found adolescents registered their parents as one of the more trusted and preferred sources for SRH and contraceptive information (Somers & Surmann, 2004; Albert, 2012). This study established similar findings. In interviews several participants discussed that school, friends, and internet sources were not always accurate or trustworthy, or do not provide enough information related to SRH. Few participants discussed any notion of mistrusting the information their parents gave them regarding contraception or care. This reinforces other study findings that parents play an integral role in providing adolescent SRH knowledge and are considered a trusted source (Albert, 2012; Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2017). Additionally, several participants discussed wanting to know more information about the process of seeking care or contraceptive methods before their first visit. This again speaks to other findings that adolescents want SRH and contraceptive specific information to make informed decisions regarding their sexual health (Albert, 2012).

Received SRH discussions

Participants who described receiving "logistical discussions" from their parents and assistance setting up their first care seeking appointment were more likely to describe the appointment process as manageable and more likely to have received care by age 18. Likewise, participants who described "facilitation discussions" with their parents related to finding a provider, whether it was in their insurance network, a place to obtain free contraception, or in some cases recommending the mother's own provider, also more frequently reported having received care by age 18. This speaks to other research that concludes parents can influence adolescent's contraceptive behaviors. It adds to the current literature as studies have found early and consistent SRH visits are important in lowering negative SRH outcomes in adolescents and young women (Ralph & Brindis, 2010). It also adds to literature that daughters may also be more likely to utilize their mother's physicians or use the same contraceptive method (Bell et al., 2002), especially if they had a contraceptive specific discussion.

In some cases, studies have shown establishing a provider can be a barrier to women's access to SRH care (Bertrand, Hardee, Magnani, and Angle, 1995). This barrier could be compounded by an adolescent's lacking experience or knowledge in their first time using this SRH care in the healthcare system. Parental guidance during this part of the care seeking process may be important to facilitating access. In this study, while assistance setting up their first appointment was described as one of the more helpful facilitators in accessing care, if it was not also coupled with SRH discussions regarding care or other SRH information, it was less likely to be described as a positive experience. These results thus indicate that setting up appointments may not be enough to reduce anxiety surrounding first time service use. Thorough discussions on

the process of receiving SRH care and what to expect at first visit may be helpful facilitators in alleviating stressors or discomfort surrounding first time service use.

Participants who had conversations with their parents that contained positive contraception messages more often described feeling comfortable seeking care or discussing their need for contraception with their parents when they were ready for services. This builds on existing literature that found adolescents may be more receptive to contraceptive communication if the adolescents have positive feelings about their relationship with their parent (Widman et al, 2016).

Additionally, while most participants who discussed parents driving them to their first appointment described it as a helpful or positive experience, most participants preferred to be alone with the provider in the exam room. While this notes the important faciliatory role parents can play in adolescents' access to SRH care, this complements existing literature which describes adolescents' desires for privacy with their provider when discussing care (Fuentes, et al., 2018).

Did not receive SRH discussions or received AOUM discussions

In this study, abstinence only messaging and stigmatizing discussions regarding sexuality or SRH care, however, were almost always described as a negative experience by participants or listed as a barrier that can make care seeking more difficult. In some cases this led women who desired contraceptive services to wait until a later time. In most cases it was due to fear of a negative conversation or opinion from a parent. This led to participants waiting to seek care or using alternative contraceptive methods such as condoms, spermicide, or the pullout method. In other cases due to fear of their parents finding out they used contraceptive services, participants circumnavigated their parents' health insurance utilizing other avenues of care such as Planned Parenthood or health centers, thus restricting their choice of providers and demonstrating the importance of confidential, accessible care for teens. This complements existing literature that parent's attitudes and discussions regarding SRH can impact adolescents' SRH perspectives (Widman, et al., 2016) and may be associated with greater use of the SRH services (Hall, et al., 2012a). Lastly, three of the four participants that described stopping contraceptive methods (usually birth control pills) shortly after beginning use did not receive, or did not state that they received, SRH discussions from their parental support or information allows participants to more successfully continue a method. Further research is needed to identify whether stopping methods is associated with experiences of side effects or due to difficulties in access.

Recommendations for public health

This study has public health implications and recommendations for future research. In an effort to help increase adolescent's use of SRH services, the author of this study has the following recommendations for parents and schools:

<u>Parents</u>

Parental assistance scheduling first appointment. Parental assistance setting up an adolescent's first SRH visit may be a helpful facilitator in providing access to this sector of the healthcare system.

First time contraceptive visits can be fear inducing. In this study, this seemed to be compounded when women did not know what to expect during their visit. Women who discussed feeling nervous about their initial visits also discussed how new the process was, indicating that some of the fear women encounter during their first visit may be due to unfamiliarity. While a few participants discussed preparational conversations in their interviews, most of these conversations were focused around questions to ask the doctor or financial costs that may incur. Assistance setting up their first appointment and having parents that discussed contraception positively were large facilitators for participants who received care at a younger age.

As other studies found early and consistent SRH visits are important in lowering negative SRH outcomes in adolescents and young women (Ralph & Brindis, 2010). As noted previously, studies have shown establishing a provider can be a barrier for women's access to SRH care (Bertand, Hardee, Magnani, and Angle, 1995), and could be exasperated by an adolescent's lacking experience or knowledge in their first time using the SRH branch of the healthcare system. Parental guidance setting up their first appointment in this new sector of the healthcare system may be important facilitating access. However, as other research has also concluded, participants preferred to be alone in the exam room when receiving contraceptive services their provider (Fuentes, et al., 2018).

Information regarding contraceptive service process. Providing adolescents with information regarding their first time SRH visit may help prepare them and reduce anxiety or discomfort that may arise from unfamiliarity with the process.

Several participants discussed discomfort or nervousness during their first time seeking services. Many participants expressed a desire to know more about the process of seeking care itself. This was usually due to unfamiliarity of the SRH process. Some participants expressed the fear of not wanting to look like they were unintelligent or uninformed during their visit. This indicates a gap in knowledge may exist for adolescents utilizing contraceptive services for the first time. Given that previous studies concluded parents are a trusted and important resource for adolescent SRH knowledge (Albert, 2012; Widman, et al., 2016; Flores & Barroso, 2017),

parents could play a crucial role in mitigating these fears through SRH discussions with their adolescents.

Current SRH guidelines for adolescents primarily concentrate on information regarding an adolescent's sexuality and the types of contraceptive methods available to use. Few guidelines exist for parents to help navigate adolescents' first SRH visit, and those that do primarily focus on provider-patient interaction or are tailored towards adolescents making their first appointment (Advocates for Youth, 2020; Planned Parenthood, 2010; Planned Parenthood 2020, Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine, 2020). While this is an important part of comprehensive SRH discussions, this study has found that parent discussions regarding SRH services was associated with earlier SRH service use. This is important because, as noted previously, early and consistent SRH visits are associated with lowering negative SRH outcomes in adolescents (Ralph & Brindis, 2010). Developing parent-adolescent discussion guidelines regarding adolescent's firsttime service use may helpful. Programs looking to increase positive SRH outcomes in adolescents could consider providing parents with relevant information to discuss with their adolescents to prepare them for their first time and developing discussion guidelines focus on the what to expect logistically, financially, and emotionally may help alleviate some of the unfamiliarity and anxiety associated with first time use.

<u>Schools</u>

Comprehensive Sexual Education. While not the focus of this study, we found the majority of participants who discussed receiving sexual education in school described negative experiences which focused primarily on abstinence only messaging, such as how to say no to sex, focused on STI information, or generally lacked comprehensive SRH information. Some

participants noted wanting to receive more comprehensive sexual education information such as sexual autonomy, sexual efficacy, and the mental implications of sex. This agrees with existing literature that found female adolescents desired more holistic SRH information such as socioemotional skills (Adams & Williams, 2011). Teaching comprehensive sexual education in schools could both meet the SRH educational needs of the students and improve their sexual and reproductive health outcomes (Chin, Sipe, Elder, et al, 2012; Linderbergh & Maddow, 2012).

Future Research

Parent-adolescent SRH discussions and SRH service use. More research is needed to explore the relationship between parent-adolescent discussions and its impact on adolescents' SRH service use. While this study explored initial concepts, more qualitative studies would add to the limited existing literature and could expand on the parent-adolescent SRH discussions and its impact on adolescent SRH service use.

Repetition of SRH information. Some discussions by participants in these interviews suggest adolescents may need repetition of SRH information to normalize the content to better act on the information provided. Even when participants discussed receiving contraceptive information or directions on condom use, some participants reported discomfort asking their sexual partner to wear a condom or telling their parents when they were ready for contraceptive services even if they had a contraception discussion with their parents before their sexual debut. One discussion may not be enough for adolescents to feel they can act on what they have learned. Current literature does not adequately address repetition or behavior establishment and its impact on adolescents SRH routine, especially concerning contraceptive use.

Destigmatizing contraception and SRH service use. Efforts have been made to destigmatize adolescents' sexuality, however, less has been done to destigmatize their use of contraception and SRH services (Loi, et al., 2019). Internalized stigma and shame regarding contraception and service use was discussed by several participants. Lack of discussions, religion, and region were discussed by some participants as the drivers behind their internalized contraceptive stigma. Future research could explore ways to reduce contraception stigma and its impact on adolescents' SRH service use.

Limitations

This study used secondary data from a larger study which explored equity and access to family planning services in the south amongst low-income women. Parent-adolescent discussions and its impact on participants' first care seeking experience was not the original research question, thus interview questions were not tailored to this specific area of interest and may not have fully investigated this subject in depth. While not an initial question of this research study, participants' SRH discussions with their parents were discussed by all but one participant of the study. More tailored questions could have produced more detailed descriptions of parent-adolescent discussions and their impact on the participants' care seeking experiences. Additionally, participants were asked to remember their experiences from a younger age. Participants' ages ranged from 19 to 33. For some participants their first care seeking experience was more recent and may have been easier to recall. For older participants, recalling their first care seeking experience may have been more difficult, and details may have been missed.

Although participants were not directly asked about their SRH discussion with their parents, this in turn also speaks to the strength of this study's research question, as parental

influence on adolescents' first SRH experience emerged an important influence and was described by participants without specific prompting. Due to the structure of LHIs, participants were able to guide the interview and speak about what was important to them as an individual. This allowed for a more holistic view of their experiences, including their SRH discussions with their parents and its impact on their first care seeking experience, which produced a more thorough examination of their experiences.

Conclusion

Parents can be a strong facilitator in providing SRH knowledge to adolescents and access to services, and while current literature states parents have an influence over adolescents' SRH outcomes, few focus on service use. This study assessed the association between parentadolescent sexual and reproductive health discussions and adolescents' first care seeking experiences amongst low-income women in Georgia and found parents influence adolescent's SRH service use. The type of parent-adolescent SRH conversations received impacted participants' care seeking in different ways.

"Logistical discussions" included what services were offered, the type of providers available, and where the participants insurance would be accepted. These discussions were associated with earlier SRH service use, with most participants who received this type of discussion receiving care by age 18. "Facilitation discussions" were largely conversations focused on adolescents' access to SRH services, such as assistance setting up their appointment, prescription pick up, and providing transportation. These discussions were also associated with earlier SRH service use. "Contraception discussions" that were informative were described as positive or neutral conversations by participants. Participants were more likely to approach their parents when they were ready for contraception if they had previously had a positive contraception discussion with their parent. Most participants expressed a desire to know more SRH contraceptive and service use information.

Abstinence only messaging had a negative protective effect. Of the three participants that discussed abstinence only messaging, none had received contraceptive services. Two participants described not wanting services and a wariness of contraceptive methods' effects on the body. The other participant expressed an interest in services, but ultimately never sought care. Two of the three participants experienced an unintended pregnancy. Lastly, lack of SRH discussions or negative SRH discussions exacerbated feelings of shame regarding contraceptive care amongst select participants and was associated with lack of comfort surrounding contraception and also a lack of confidence seeking contraceptive care.

Appendix

References

Abma, J. C. and G. M. Martinez (2017). Sexual Activity and Contraceptive Use Among Teenagers in the United States, 2011-2015." Natl Health Stat Report(104): 1-23.

Adams H.L., Williams L.R. (2011). "What they wish they would have known: Support for comprehensive sexual education from Mexican American and White adolescents' dating and sexual desires. Children and Youth Services Review. 22(10):1875-1885. DOI: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.05.013

Advocates for Youth. (2020). "Resources & Tools for Parents" https://advocatesforyouth.org/resourcestools/?_sft_audience=for-professionals

Afifi TD, Joseph A, Aldeis D. Why Can't We Just Talk About It? : An Observational Study of Parents' and Adolescents' Conversations About Sex. Journal of Adolescent Research. 2008; 23(6):689–721. DOI: 10.1177/0743558408323841

Albert B. With One Voice 2012: America's Adults and Teens Sound Off about Teen Pregnancy. The National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy; Washington, DC, USA: 2012

Baier MEM, Wampler KS. A qualitative study of Southern Baptist mothers' and their daughters' attitudes toward sexuality. Journal of Adolescent Research. 2008; 23(1):31–54. DOI: 10.1177/0743558407310730

Baumrind D, Lerner R.M., Petersen A.C., Brooks-Gunn J. 1991. Parenting styles and adolescent development Encyclopedia of Adolescence, Garland Publishing, Inc, NY (1991), pp. 746-758

Bearak, J., Popinchalk, A., Alkema, L., & Sedgh, G. (2018). Global, regional, and subregional trends in unintended pregnancy and its outcomes from 1990 to 2014: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. Lancet Glob Health, 6(4), e380-e389. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30029-9

Beadnell, B., Wilsdon, A., Wells, E. A., Morison, D. M., Gillmore, M. R., & Hoppe, M. (2007). Intrapersonal and Interpersonal Factors Influencing Adolescents Decisions About Having Sex: A Test of Sufficiency of the Theory of Planned Behavior. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 37(12), 2840–2876. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2007.00285.x

Bell, A.V., Gifford, K., Rashid, H., McDuffie, M.J., Knight, E. (2020). "Power of Mom": A Mixed Methods Investigation of Mothers' Influence on Women's Contraceptive Attitudes and Behaviors. Matern Child Health J 24, 291–298 (2020). <u>https://doi-org.proxy.library.emory.edu/10.1007/s10995-019-02859-5</u>

Bertrand, J., Hardee, K., Magnani, R., & Angle, M. (1995). Access, Quality Of Care and Medical Barriers In Family Planning Programs. International Family Planning Perspectives, 21(2), 64-74. doi:10.2307/2133525

Boonstra HD. Advocates call for a new approach after the era of 'Abstinence-Only' sex education. Guttmacher Policy Rev. 2009;12:1–6.

Brostoff, A. (2019). "How white nationalists aligned themselves with the antiabortion movement." New York Times. https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2019/08/27/how-white-nationalists-aligned-themselves-with-antiabortion-movement/

Castle, M.A. Abortion in the United States' bible belt: organizing for power and empowerment. Reprod Health 8, 1 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-8-1

CDC. (2019)a. *Talking to Your Teens about Sex: Going Beyond "the Talk"*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/protective/factsheets/talking teens.htm

CDC (2019)b. "Births in the United States, 2018". https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db346.htm

CDC. (2018). "2018 STD Surveillance Report". Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/std/stats18/2018-Surveillance-Report-EMBARGOED-FINAL-State-Ranking-Tables.pdf

CDC. (2015). "EVIDENCE SUMMARY: Prevent Unintended Pregnancy" Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/sixeighteen/docs/6-18-evidence-summary-pregnancy.pdf

Chen, X.-K., Wen, S. W., Fleming, N., Demissie, K., Rhoads, G. G., & Walker, M. (2007). Teenage pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a large population based retrospective cohort study. International Journal of Epidemiology, 36(2), 368–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl284</u>

Chin HB, Sipe TA, Elder R, et al. The effectiveness of group-based comprehensive risk-reduction and abstinence education interventions to prevent or reduce the risk of adolescent pregnancy, human immunodeficiency virus, and sexually transmitted infections: Two systematic reviews for the guide to community preventive services. Am J Prev Med. 2012;42:272–94

Djamba, Y., Davidson, T., and Aga, M., (2012). "Sexual Health of Young People in the U.S. South: Challenges and Opportunities". Center for Demographic Research at Auburn Montgomery. <u>https://forwomen.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/CDR_SexualHealth_6.pdf</u>

Downey, M. (2015). "Sex education in Georgia: Failing the grade and students". The Atlanta Journal-Constitution. December 19, 2015. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.ajc.com/blog/get-schooled/sex-education-georgia-failing-the-grade-and-students/IiHpzOBGAdcLleHy02xxDP/</u>

Finer LB, Henshaw SK. (2006). Disparities in rates of unintended pregnancy in the United States, 1994 and 2001. Perspect. Sex. Reprod. Health 38:90–96

Finer, L. B. and M. R. Zolna (2016). "Declines in Unintended Pregnancy in the United States, 2008-2011." N Engl J Med 374(9): 843-852.

Georgia Department of Public Health. (2018). The State of STDs: Preventing Sexually Transmitted Diseases in Georgia. <u>https://dph.georgia.gov/data-statistics</u>

Gipson, Koeing, & Hindin. (2008). "The effects of unintended pregnancy on infant, child, and parental health: a review of the literature." Stud Fam Plann 39(1): 18-38.

Goldman, R., Hunt, M. K., Allen, J. D., Hauser, S., Emmons, K., Maeda, M., & Sorensen, G. (2003). The Life History Interview Method: Applications to Intervention Development. Health Education & Behavior, 30(5), 564-581. doi:10.1177/1090198103254393

Goodwin, M. (2020). "The Racist History of Abortion and Midwifery Bans." ACLU. https://www.aclu.org/news/racial-justice/the-racist-history-of-abortion-and-midwifery-bans/

Goossens, J., Van Den Branden Y, Van der Sluys L, Delbaere I, Van Hecke A, Verhaeghe S, Beeckman. (2016). "The prevalence of unplanned pregnancy ending in birth, associated factors, and health outcomes." <u>Hum Reprod</u> 31(12): 2821-2833.

Guttmacher Institute. (2014). State Facts About Unintended Pregnancy: Georgia. <u>https://www.guttmacher.org</u> > sites > default > files > factsheet > ga_5

Guttmacher Institute. (2020). An Overview of Abortion Laws. https://www.guttmacher.org/state-policy/explore/overview-abortion-laws

Edwards LL, Reis JS. A Five-Step Process for Interactive Parent–Adolescent Communication About HIV Prevention: Advice From Parents Living With HIV/AIDS. Journal of HIV/AIDS & Social Services. 2014;13(1):59–78. doi: 10.1080/15381501.2013.775686.

Fasula, A. M. and K. S. Miller (2006). "African-American and Hispanic adolescents' intentions to delay first intercourse: parental communication as a buffer for sexually active peers." Journal of Adolescent Health 38(3): 193-200.

Finer, L. B., Lindberg, L. D., & Desai, S. (2018). A prospective measure of unintended pregnancy in the United States. Contraception, 98(6), 522–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2018.05.012

Finer, L. B. and M. R. Zolna (2016). "Declines in Unintended Pregnancy in the United States, 2008-2011." N Engl J Med 374(9): 843-852.

Flores, D., & Barroso, J. (2017). 21st Century Parent-Child Sex Communication in the United States: A Process Review. Journal of sex research, 54(4-5), 532–548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2016.1267693</u>

Fuentes, L., Ingerick, M., Jones, R., & Lindberg, L. (2018). Adolescents' and Young Adults' Reports of Barriers to Confidential Health Care and Receipt of Contraceptive Services. The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, 62(1), 36–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.10.011</u>

Hall K, Moreau C, Trussell J. "Discouraging trends in reproductive health service use among adolescent and young adult women in the United States: an analysis of data from the National Survey of Family Growth, 2002 to 2008." Hum Reprod 2011;26:2541–8.

Hall, K., Moreau, C., & Trussell, J. (2012a). "Associations Between Sexual and Reproductive Health Communication and Health Service Use Among U.S. Adolescent Women." *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 44(1), 6-12. Retrieved from <u>www.jstor.org/stable/42004087</u>

Hall, K., Moreau, C., & Trussell, J. (2012b). "Continuing social disparities despite upward trends in sexual and reproductive health service use among young women in the United States." Contraception 86(6): 681-686

Hall, K., Moreau, C., & Trussell, J. (2012c). "Lower use of sexual and reproductive health services among women with frequent religious participation, regardless of sexual experience." J Womens Health (Larchmt) 21(7): 739-747.

Hall, K., Moreau, C., & Trussell, J. (2012d). "Determinants of and disparities in reproductive health service use among adolescent and young adult women in the United States, 2002-2008." American Journal of Public Health. 102(2), p.359-367

Health and Human Services (2017). "Trends in Teen Pregnancy and Childbearing". US Department of Health and Human Services. 2017. Retrieved from: https://www.hhs.gov/ash/oah/adolescent-development/reproductive-health-and-teen-pregnancy/teen-pregnancy-and-childbearing/trends/index.html

Herd, P., et al. (2016). "The Implications of Unintended Pregnancies for Mental Health in Later Life." Am J Public Health 106(3): 421-429.

Hoffman SD, Maynard R. Kids Having Kids: Economic Costs & Social Consequences of Teen Pregnancy. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute Press; 2008.

Kawakita, T., Wilson, K., Grantz, K. L., Landy, H. J., Huang, C. C., & Gomez-Lobo, V. (2016). Adverse Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes in Adolescent Pregnancy. Journal of pediatric and adolescent gynecology, 29(2), 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpag.2015.08.006 Kochanska, G. (1997), Mutually Responsive Orientation between Mothers and Their Young Children: Implications for Early Socialization. Child Development, 68: 94-112. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.1997.tb01928.x

Kost, K., Henshaw, S. (2012). U.S. "Teenage Pregnancies, Births and Abortions, 2008: National Trends by Age, Race and Ethnicity". Guttmacher Institute. February, 2012.

Kramer MR, Hogue CJ, Gaydos LM. (2007). Noncontracepting behavior in women at risk for unintended pregnancy: What's religion got to do with it? Ann Epidemiol 2007;17:327–334.

Lantos, H., Manlove, J., Wildsmith, E., Faccio, B., Guzman, L., & Moore, K. A. (2019). Parent-Teen Communication about Sexual and Reproductive Health: Cohort Differences by Race/Ethnicity and Nativity. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *16*(5), 833. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050833</u>

Lepkowski JM, Mosher WD, Davis KE, Groves RM, Van Hoewyk J. The 2006–2010 National Survey of Family Growth: sample design and analysis of a continuous survey. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital Health Stat 2010;2:1–36.

Levesque, J., Harris, M.F. & Russell, G. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health 12, 18 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-12-18

Lindberg LD, Ku L, Sonenstein F. Adolescents' reports of reproductive health education, 1988 and 1995. Fam Plann Persp. 2000;1:220-6.

Lindberg LD, Maddow-Zimet I. Consequences of sex education on teen and young adult behaviors and outcomes. J Adolesc Health. 2012;51:332–8

Manlove, J.; Logan, C.; Moore, K.; Ikramullah, E. Pathways from family religiosity to adolescent sexual activity and contraceptive use. Perspect. Sex. Reprod. Health 2008, 40, 105–117.

Manlove, J., Fish, H., & Moore, K. A. (2015). Programs to improve adolescent sexual and reproductive health in the US: a review of the evidence. *Adolescent health, medicine and therapeutics*, *6*, 47–79. https://doi.org/10.2147/AHMT.S48054

McCallister, C. J., et al. (2019). "Messages About Contraception and Condoms in Mother–Adolescent Dyadic Conversations: Knowledge, Risks, and Effectiveness." Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology 32(4): 395-401.

MAXQDA. 2020. "MAXQDA plus". https://www.maxqda.com/products/maxqda-plus

Meneses, L.M.; Orrell-Valente, J.K.; Guendelman, S.R.; Oman, D.; Irwin, C.E (2006). Racial/ethnic differences in mother-daughter communication about sex. J. Adolesc. Health 2006, 39, 128–131.

Monte, L. M., Ellis, Renee R. (2014). Fertility of Women in the United States: 2012. U.S. Census Bureau

Monea, E, Thomas, A. (2011). The High Cost of Unintended Pregnancy. CCF Brief, 45(5):2-7 https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-high-cost-of-unintended-pregnancy/

Morgan LM, Roberts EFS (2012). Reproductive governance in Latin America. Anthropol Med, 19(2):241-54.

NARAL. (2020). State Government Laws and Policies. 2020. Retrieved from: https://www.prochoiceamerica.org/laws-policy/state-government/

Newton-Levinson, A. (2019). "Women Exploring Reproductive Equity in the South Study Protocols."

Nove, A., Matthews, Z., Neal, S., & Camacho, A. V. (2014). Maternal mortality in adolescents compared with women of other ages: evidence from 144 countries. The Lancet Global Health, 2(3), e155–e164. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(13)70179-7

Orr, T., Miller, K., James, S., and Babones, S. (2000). "Unintended pregnancy and preterm birth." Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology 14(4): 309-313.

Pew Research Center. (2019). Pew Research Center: "Religious Landscape Study." United States. [Archived Web Site] Retrieved from <u>https://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/region/south/</u>

Perper K, Peterson K, Manlove J. Diploma Attainment Among Teen Mothers. Child Trends, Fact Sheet Publication #2010-01: Washington, DC: Child Trends; 2010

Planned Parenthood. (2010). "Taking Care of You: A Teen Guide to Sexual and Reproductive Health Care". https://www.plannedparenthood.org/files/7114/0042/4153/Taking Care of You 2010 with hyperlinks.pdf

Planned Parenthood. (2020). "Resources for Parents". https://www.plannedparenthood.org/learn/parents/resources-parents.

Potter, J., Trussell, J., & Moreau, C. (2009). Trends and determinants of reproductive health service use among young women in the USA. *Human reproduction (Oxford, England)*, 24(12), 3010–3018. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dep333

Ralph, L. J. and C. D. Brindis (2010). "Access to reproductive healthcare for adolescents: establishing healthy behaviors at a critical juncture in the lifecourse." <u>Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol</u> 22(5): 369-374.

Rehnström Loi, U., Otieno, B., Oguttu, M., Gemzell-Danielsson, K., Klingberg-Allvin, M., Faxelid, E., & Makenzius, M. (2019). Abortion and contraceptive use stigma: a cross-sectional study of attitudes and beliefs in secondary school students in western Kenya. Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters, 27(3), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/26410397.2019.1652028

Santelli J, Ott MA, Lyon M, et al. Abstinence and abstinence-only education: A review of U.S. policies and programs. J Adolesc Health. 2006;38:72–81

Santelli J, Lindberg L, Finer L, Singh S. Explaining recent declines in adolescent pregnancy in the United States: The contribution of abstinence and improved contraceptive use. Am J Public Health. 2007;97:150–6.

Satin, A. J., et al. (1994). "Maternal youth and pregnancy outcomes: middle school versus high school age groups compared with women beyond the teen years." Am J Obstet Gynecol 171(1): 184-187.

Schaeffer, K. (2019). Pew Research Center: "In a rising number of U.S. counties, Hispanic and black Americans are the majority." United States. Retrieved from: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/11/20/in-a-rising-number-of-u-s-counties-hispanic-and-black-americans-are-the-majority/

Sexuality Information and Education Council of the United States (SEICUS) [Accessed April 1, 2016];Sex ed state legislative year-end report: top topics and takeaways. 2015 Available at: http://www.siecus.org.

Shorto, R., (2006, May 7). "Contra-Contraception." The New York Times. Retrieved from: https://www.nytimes.com/2006/05/07/magazine/07contraception.html

Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. (2020). Retrieved from: "https://www.adolescenthealth.org/Resources/Clinical-Care-Resources/Sexual-Reproductive-Health/SandRH-Resources-For-Parents-of-Adolesc.aspx.

Strasburger VC, Brown SS. Sex education in the 21st century. JAMA. 2014;312:125-6

Swartzendruber, A., et al. (2018). "Sexual and Reproductive Health Services and Related Health Information on Pregnancy Resource Center Websites: A Statewide Content Analysis." Women's Health Issues 28(1): 14-20.

Trussell J. (2011). Contraceptive failure in the United States. Contraception, 83(5), 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2011.01.021

Uffalussy, J.G. (2016). "Georgia lawmakers poised to pour \$2m into 'fake abortion clinics'". The Guardian. March 12, 2016.

US Census Bureau. (1995). "Statistical Abstract of the United States". Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov > prod > gen > preface

US Census Bureau. (2011, September 29). US Census Bureau: "2010 Census Shows Black Population has Highest Concentration in the South". Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/2010_census/cb11-cn185.html

US Census Bureau. (2018). "Georgia: Quick Facts". Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/GA/IPE120218#IPE120218

US Census Bureau. (2019). "Income and Poverty in the United States: 2018". Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2019/demo/p60-266.html

US Department of Human Services. (2016). "Georgia Adolescent Reproductive Health Facts". Retrieved from: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ash/oah/facts-and-stats/national-and-state-data-sheets/adolescent-reproductive-health/georgia/index.html</u>

US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for HIV, STD and TB Prevention (NCHSTP), Division of STD/HIV Prevention, Sexually Transmitted Disease Morbidity for selected STDs by age, race/ethnicity and gender 1996-2014, CDC WONDER Online Database. Accessed at http://wonder.cdc.gov/std-race-age.html United States

Department of Health and Human Services (US DHHS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), Division of Vital Statistics, Natality public-use data 2007-2018, on CDC WONDER Online Database, September 2019. Accessed at http://wonder.cdc.gov/natality-current.html

Widman L, Choukas-Bradley S, Noar SM, Nesi J, Garrett K. (2015). Parent-Adolescent Sexual Communication and Adolescent Safer Sex Behavior: A Meta-Analysis. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2016;170(1):52–61. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2731

Yazdkhasti, M., et al. (2015). "Unintended Pregnancy and Its Adverse Social and Economic Consequences on Health System: A Narrative Review Article." Iranian journal of public health 44(1): 12-21.

Yowell, H. (2019). "America is in desperate need of comprehensive sex education". The Cavalier Daily. October 21, 2019. Retrieved from: https://www.cavalierdaily.com/article/2019/10/yowell-america-is-in-desperate-need-of-comprehensive-sex-education